### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GRADY EDWARD BYRD	) Supreme Court No. 80548
Appellant	Electronically Filed Jun 30 2020 02:34 p.m.
v.	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
CATERINA ANGELA BYRD	
Respondent	)
	J.

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal From the Honorable Judge Kathy Hardcastle's Orders of January 23, 2020.

Submitted by:

DANIEL W. ANDERSON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No.: 9955

BYRON L. MILLS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No.: 8191

MILLS & ANDERSON

703 S. 8th Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

(702) 386-0030

 $\underline{attorneys@millsnv.com}$ 

Attorneys for Appellant

#

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal of post-trial enforcement orders, which arose out of the rights and obligations of the parties set forth in their decree of divorce, making these orders "special orders" within the meaning of NRAP 3A(b)(8). Such orders are appealable to the Supreme Court/Court of Appeals by timely filing a notice of appeal.

III

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is an appeal of a district court's post trial orders in family law proceeding. It is therefore presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(5). Appellant has no objection to this presumptive assignment.

#### IV

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

This is an appeal of the district court's orders entered on January 23, 2020 in a post-divorce enforcement action. The parties were divorced by joint petition decree entered in the district court on June 5, 2014. The Decree of Divorce contains the following provisions that are relevant to this appeal:

12. Husband and Wife agree that neither party shall be required to pay spousal support to the other party.<sup>2</sup>

. .

# 1. SPOUSAL SUPPORT.

Husband and Wife agree that neither party shall be required to pay spousal support to the other party.<sup>3</sup>

. . .

- 1. Caterina A. Byrd is entitled to 50% of Grady E. Byrd's United States Army Retired Pay as long as he lives.<sup>4</sup>
- 2. Grady E. Byrd will continue to pay Caterina A. Byrd 1500 dollars extra a month to assist with her home mortgage. If her financial situation or changes or if the home is sold or paid off this payment may cease. This is not an alimony payment and is not required.<sup>5</sup>

Following entry of the Decree of Divorce, Grady paid Caterina the sum of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant's Appendix AA001-012 "hereinafter "AA."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> AA003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> AA006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> AA007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> AA008.

\$3,000 per month from June 2014 to September 2018. This amount accounted for the \$1,500 Grady agreed to pay for mortgage assistance and an additional payment of \$1,500 per month that Grady was making voluntarily.<sup>6</sup> Grady stopped making all payments to Caterina in September 2018.<sup>7</sup> Caterina immediately transferred the case from Churchill to Clark County, then she filed her motion for enforcement on October 16, 2018.

Caterina's motion for enforcement sought to hold Grady in contempt for discontinuing the \$1,500 per month payment and further sought to compel Grady to cooperate with Caterina so she could obtain 50% of his Army Retired Pay, SBP benefits from Grady's Army Retired Pay, death benefits related to Grady civilian service through the Office of Personnel Management, health insurance and various life insurance benefits. Caterina further claimed that Grady had an undisclosed source of retirement income that was concealed by Grady and should have been divided at the time of divorce.

On November 16, 2018, Grady filed a request for a continued court date and brief response to Caterina's claims. Orady requested that the Court date be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> AA161, ll. 21-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> AA15.

<sup>8</sup> AA020-024.

<sup>9</sup> AA024-026.

<sup>10</sup> AA892-893

continued as he was residing in the Philippines recovering from surgery and unable to travel to the United States for the hearing until December. The hearing on Caterina's motion was originally set for November 27, 2018 and went forward despite Grady's request. At that hearing, the Court ordered Grady to produce documents verifying his sources of income and documents related to the health and life insurance that Caterina was seeking.

The parties again appeared before the court on January 23, 2019.<sup>14</sup> At that hearing, Senior Judge Kathy Hardcastle determined that the \$1,500 per month mortgage assistance was alimony and that Grady was to continue paying it.<sup>15</sup> The Judge further determined that Grady was to pay an additional \$1,500 per month to Caterina as her share of Grady's Army Retired Pay, despite there being no proof before the Court of any kind that Grady received \$3,000 per month in Army Retired Pay.<sup>16</sup> The Judge further awarded a judgment to Caterina in the amount of \$22,000, which consisted of arrears in alimony and retired pay of \$7,500 each,

<sup>11</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> AA 894.

<sup>13</sup> AA 895-896

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> AA097-138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> AA140-141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> AA140-141.

and a \$7,000 attorney's fees award.17

Grady, who had been unrepresented up to that point, retained counsel and filed a motion for reconsideration of Judge Hardcastle's orders. Specifically, Grady sought reconsideration of Judge Hardcastle's decisions that 1) the mortgage assistance payment of \$1,500 per month in the Decree was alimony and 2) that Caterina should be receiving \$1,500 per month as a portion of Grady's military retired pay. Accompanying Grady's motion were exhibits demonstrating all sources of Grady's income, which demonstrated at the time of divorce that Grady was only receiving \$128.40 per month in Army Retired Pay, and the balance of his income was from federal service-related disability payments. At the time, Caterina filed her motion, 100% of Grady's income was coming from federal service-related disability payments.

The hearing on Grady's reconsideration motion was presided over by Judge Forsberg,<sup>22</sup> who determined that the \$1,500 payment characterized by Judge Hardcastle as alimony was in fact not alimony, but a property division, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> AA143-145.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> AA159-177.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> AA159.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> AA178-198.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> AA164.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> AA309-353.

ordered Grady to continue to make the payments to Caterina.<sup>23</sup> Regarding the \$1,500 payments that Judge Hardcastle ordered Grady to make as Caterina's share of his Army Retired Pay, Judge Forsberg set an evidentiary hearing to determine 1) whether Grady reduced his Army Retired Pay by converting it to disability after the divorce and 2) whether there was a contractual agreement that Grady pay \$1,500 per month regardless of the amount of his Army Retired Pay.<sup>24</sup> Judge Forsberg also ordered Grady to continue to pay \$3,000 per month pending the outcome of the evidentiary hearing.<sup>25</sup> Finally, Grady was ordered to appear in person at the evidentiary hearing.<sup>26</sup>

Additionally, prior to the evidentiary hearing, Caterina filed a motion for an order to show cause against Grady for his failure to make payments to Caterina.<sup>27</sup> The Court granted the motion and issued a show cause order for Grady to appear and show cause as to why he had not made payments from June 1, 2019 pending the evidentiary hearing.<sup>28</sup> Caterina then filed a motion for reconsideration of Judge Forsberg's decision reversing Judge Hardcastle's decision, asking Judge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> AA355-356.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> AA356.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> AA358.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> AA358.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> AA362-365.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>AA362-365.

Hardcastle to find that the mortgage assistance payment was alimony.<sup>29</sup> Both the order to show cause and the motion for reconsideration were also set for the October evidentiary hearing date.

Finally, due to Grady's medical issues and his residence in the Philippines,

Grady filed a request for audiovisual participation in the October trial.<sup>30</sup> Grady

maintained that he had been given instructions by his physician not to travel and
could not physically be present.<sup>31</sup> The Court summarily denied his request prior to
trial. Grady filed a motion for reconsideration of the denial and attached notes
from three doctors stating that he should not travel due to his medical condition.<sup>32</sup>
Caterina opposed the request and the Court ultimately affirmed its denial as more
fully described below.

The trial occurred on October 21, 2019.<sup>33</sup> At the outset of the trial, the Court affirmed that Grady would not be allowed to participate via audiovisual transmission, finding that the doctors' notes he provided from doctors in the Philippines were "somewhat suspicious".<sup>34</sup> The Court offered no other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> AA400-436.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> AA441-448.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> AA442.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> AA490-507.

<sup>33</sup> AA601-782.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> AA605-606.

explanation for its denial and stated that the trial would proceed without Grady.35

The next issue the Court addressed was Caterina's motion for reconsideration. The motion for reconsideration, filed on September 30, 2019, requested, *inter alia*, the following relief:

- 1. Set aside the order filed June 26, 2019 as to the finding that Caterina waived spousal support in the Decree of Divorce;<sup>36</sup>
- 2. That orders filed on or about April 5, 2019 remain in full force and effect pending further orders of the court;<sup>37</sup>

At no point in the motion for reconsideration or in any of her previous pleadings did Caterina argue that the Decree of Divorce should be set aside under NRCP 60, due to unconscionability, or for any other reason. Nevertheless, the Court framed its determination before taking any evidence as follows:

The setting aside -- this is the evidentiary hearing. We're going to make the determination today on the evidentiary hearing of whether or not the agreement entered into between the parties what was meant by the language of it and whether or not it constituted a waiver of alimony. And I think you've pointed out case law in there that would indicate that it's probably not a waiver of alimony or that the statement regarding this is not alimony is of no effect in regards to the agreement because it clearly provides for her support. And after a 31-year marriage, it's clearly unconscionable to leave her with nothing after a 31-year marriage and leave total discretion to him of whether or not to pay, when to pay, and when to be able to quit paying. So it

<sup>35</sup> AA606.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> AA401.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> AA401.

could be that this whole thing can just be set aside and the parties can still be considered married and we go through this all over again.<sup>38</sup>

After addressing additional issues, which are not the subject of this appeal, the Court proceeded to take testimony from Caterina.<sup>39</sup> Throughout Caterina's testimony, her counsel offered exhibits of emails between Caterina and Grady which discussed negotiations regarding what the terms of the stipulated decree would be.<sup>40</sup> Grady's counsel objected based on the parol evidence rule, but his objection was overruled, and all the emails were admitted over his repeated objection.<sup>41</sup> Caterina went on to testify as to her mental health at the time of divorce negotiations<sup>42</sup> and claims that she felt threatened by Grady telling her to sign the documents or he would hire an attorney and they would go to court.<sup>43</sup>

On cross examination, Caterina admitted that she understood that Grady could stop paying her the mortgage assistance payment at any time based on the language in the proposed decree.<sup>44</sup> Grady's counsel raised questions regarding the negotiations between Grady and Caterina prior to the divorce. Grady's counsel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> AA606-607.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> AA614-744.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> AA642-670.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> AA639, 645, 648, 651, 660, 662, 667, 669.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> AA625.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> AA668.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> AA718-719, 734-735.

asked Caterina, "I believe in some of your emails, you raised questions about the wording of the decree, correct, or the wording of the petition?" Caterina responded affirmatively, and Grady's counsel followed by asking, "And you were concerned that with the wording you may only get 1500 instead of 3,000, isn't that correct based on one of your emails?

Later in the cross examination, Grady's counsel asked, "Since you were divorced in 2014, you could have got a job at any time between then and now, correct?" Caterina responded, "I could have, but --." She continued to state, "I didn't want a -- but he -- he made it where if my financial -- if my financial money changes, then he can [cease] my house payment and give me an extra \$1500." Grady's counsel then asked, "Oh, so you were worried that if you went and got a job, he wouldn't have to pay the \$1500 anymore." Caterina responded, "Well, he told me, you know, if your life changes in any way and I always thought if I get remarried, but I think he meant if I have any extra money."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> AA718-719.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> AA719.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> AA734.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> AA734.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> AA734.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> AA734-735.

The Court issued a written decision and order on January 23, 2020.51 The Court found that Grady owed a fiduciary duty to Caterina as her husband.<sup>52</sup> The Court further found that Grady breached that fiduciary duty by misrepresenting to Caterina the amount she would receive and for how long, and that Grady "engaged in deceit" upon Caterina.53 The Court also found that Grady did not provide documentation regarding his income to Caterina at the time of divorce.<sup>54</sup> The Court found that Grady paid Caterina \$3,000 per month "to keep her quiet, to keep her complacent."55 The Court further found that, "Grady did everything in his power to keep Caterina from recognizing what her rights were and to leave her in a position where she would receive only \$62.40 per month from his Army Retired Pay."56 The Court stated that, "Were the provision in the Decree of Divorce interpreted to give Caterina 50% of Grady's military pay, so that she would receive only \$62.40 per month for her interest in his military pay, after 31 years of marriage, this would be so unconscionable, as to be unenforceable."57

The Court found that, "Grady threatened Caterina that she was not to seek

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> AA830-850.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> AA836-838.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> AA837-838.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> AA838.

<sup>55</sup> AA838.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> AA839.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> AA839.

the assistance of counsel to review the language that Grady proposed for the Decree of Divorce or she would regret it."<sup>58</sup> The Court deemed that the \$3000 per month that Grady had been paying would be considered alimony.<sup>59</sup> The Court found that, "There is cause to set aside the decree based on Grady's breach of his fiduciary duty to Caterina and that this was timely because Caterina came to court to try to get what was entitled to her upon Grady stopping his monthly payments."<sup>60</sup>

The Court found that Grady's interpretation of the decree was unconscionable because it would provide Caterina just \$62.20 per month for her interest in his military pay after 31 years of marriage.<sup>61</sup> The Court stated that, "Grady has a contractual obligation to pay Caterina \$1,500 per month from his disability pension."<sup>62</sup> The Court found that the alimony waiver in the Decree of Divorce is not enforceable because Caterina did not knowingly waive alimony and relied on Grady's promise that he would pay her \$3,000 per month until she died.<sup>63</sup> The Court also found that, "She could not have waived her right to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> AA839-840.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> AA840.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> AA842.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> AA842-843.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> AA843.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> AA843.

alimony while simultaneously accepting support to pay her necessities."<sup>64</sup> The basis for the Court's ruling was ultimately that, "The payments Grady is making to Caterina are in the nature alimony."<sup>65</sup>

The district court used Grady's ongoing payment of \$1500 per month for a period of approximately 4 years after the divorce decree to support its conclusion that the decree itself was ambiguous as to the \$1500 per month mortgage assistance.<sup>66</sup>

The district court also concluded that the statement awarding Caterina 50% of Grady's military retired pay was vague because there is no dollar amount provided and Grady represented to Caterina that 50% of his military pay is \$1,500 per month.<sup>67</sup> Again, the court relied on Grady continuing to pay Caterina \$1,500 per month for four years following the entry of the decree in support of its ambiguity finding.<sup>68</sup>

Based on all the foregoing, the Court set aside the alimony waiver<sup>69</sup> and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> AA843.

<sup>65</sup> AA843.

<sup>66</sup> AA845.

<sup>67</sup> AA845.

<sup>68</sup> AA845.

<sup>69</sup> AA843.

awarded Caterina with \$3,110 in modifiable lifetime alimony.<sup>70</sup> The Court did so notwithstanding its determination that the agreement created a contractual obligation for Grady to pay Caterina \$1,500 per month regardless of the actual amount of his Army Retired Pay. Judge Hardcastle's decision effectively overruled Judge Forsberg's decision that the mortgage assistance payment of \$1,500 was in fact a conditional payment obligation that had to be continued until one of the conditions occurred. This appeal follows:

V

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred as a matter of law by determining that the terms of the Decree of Divorce were vague and ambiguous regarding Caterina's waiver of alimony and her award of 50% of Grady's Army Retired Pay.
- 2. Whether the district court erred as a matter of law by considering extrinsic or parol evidence regarding the meaning of the alimony waiver and the award of 50% of Grady's Army Retired pay Grady.
- 3. Whether the district court erred as matter of law by finding that Grady had a fiduciary duty to Caterina and by construing the alleged ambiguity in the decree against Grady because of a breach of that fiduciary duty and because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> AA847.

he was the drafter.

- 4. Whether Caterina timely filed for relief under NRCP 60b when she made the request on September 20, 2019, which is approximately 5 years after entry of the Decree of Divorce and 1 year after Grady elected to stop making payments to Caterina.
- 5. Whether the district court abused its discretion by denying Grady's request to appear at trial by audiovisual equipment.

#### VI

### **ARGUMENT**

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred as a matter of law when it found that there was ambiguity or vagueness in the terms of the decree relating to Caterina's waiver of alimony and her award of 50% of Grady's Army Retired Pay. There is nothing remotely ambiguous about the three separate and distinct statements in the Decree of Divorce declaring that neither party was entitled to alimony, that neither party would receive alimony and that the mortgage assistance payment to Caterina was not alimony and was not required. Furthermore, the language "Caterina A. Byrd is entitled to 50% of Grady E. Byrd's Unites States Army Retired Pay as long as he lives" is not ambiguous or susceptible to any other interpretation. This language is the exact language that is required by the federal government for a division of

retired pay. There is no requirement that a specific amount be stated, and failure to state a specific amount does not create ambiguity. The district court erred as a matter of law by finding ambiguity in both the alimony and retired pay provisions of the decree.

This error of law led to a host of other clear errors made the by the district court. The district court admitted a series of emails and substantial testimony, over counsel's objections, regarding the settlement discussions between the parties that occurred prior to their execution of the decree, all of which should have been excluded as settlement negotiations and pursuant to the parol evidence rule. Caterina's testimony and Grady's statements in the emails formed the basis of the district court's determination that the \$1,500 mortgage assistance was really alimony, and that Grady had really agreed to pay Caterina \$1,500 per month from his disability pay, notwithstanding that the decree awarded Caterina 50% of his retired pay.

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