### Supreme Court Case No. 80548 1 2 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA cally Filed 3 Aug 14 2020 03:02 p.m. 4 GRADY BYRD, Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court 5 *Appellant* 6 $-\nu$ -7 CATERNIA ANGELA BYRD, 8 Respondent 9 10 ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA District Court Case Number D-18-577701-Z 11 12 13 RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF 14 15 /s/ Jeanne F. Lambertsen ANITA A. WEBSTER, ESQ. 16 Nevada Bar No. 1211 JEANNE F. LAMBERTSEN, ESQ. 17 Nevada Bar No. 9460 18 6882 Edna Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 702-562-2300 19 Attorneys for Respondent 20 Caterina Angela Byrd 21 22 8/13/20 23

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

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

Grady cites <u>Galardi v. Naples Polaris, LLC</u>, 129 Nev. 306, 309, 301 P.3d 364, 366 (2013) to support of his argument that there is no ambiguity in the Decree of Divorce. However, <u>Galardi</u> provides that "[a] contract is ambiguous if its terms may reasonably be interpreted in more than one way".

Grady's interpretation of the Decree of Divorce is so unreasonable as to be unconscionable. To the extent Grady sets forth reasons why he believes that the Decree of Divorce is not ambiguous, he essentially reargues the facts of the case, reargues Judge R. Forsberg's orders from the May 22, 2019 motion hearing and disagrees with the weight Judge K. Hardcastle gave to the evidence before her at the Evidentiary Hearing, which this Court has held it will not reevaluate on appeal. See Quintero v. McDonald, 116 Nev. 1181 1183, 14 P.3d 522, 523 (2000) (refusing to

<sup>21 62</sup>AOB pg 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>AA865 ln 22- AA866 ln 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup>AOB pg 18 - 21

<sup>65</sup>AA354

reweigh evidence on appeal). Judge K. Hardcastle advised counsel that the prior orders from the January 23, 2019 motion hearing and the May 22, 2019 motion hearing were orders made without the benefit of an Evidentiary Hearing, that they were preliminary rulings, that we are now at trial, and rulings will be based upon the evidence that was presented at trial. 66 The District Court's findings of ambiguity and subsequent orders should be affirmed.

## c. Ambiguity is Interpreted Against Grady

Any vagueness or ambiguity must be interpreted against the drafter. Basic principles of contract law hold the drafter to a higher standard. Williams v. Waldman, 108 Nev. 466, 473, 836 P.2d 614, 619 (1992) ("[I]t is a well settled rule that '[i]n cases of doubt or ambiguity, a contract must be construed most strongly against the party who prepared it, and favorably to a party who had no voice in the selection of its language.' " (quoting Jacobson v. Sassower, 66 N.Y.2d 991, 499 N.Y.S.2d 381, 489 N.E.2d 1283, 1284 (1985))). Golden Rd. Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam, 376 P.3d 151, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 49 (Nev., 2016).

Grady is the drafter of the Joint Petition and Decree of Divorce; he selected the terms for the Decree of Divorce, hired the legal staff to prepare the Joint Petition and Decree of Divorce and Grady e-mailed it to Caterina to sign.<sup>67</sup> Caterina asked for alimony language and Grady refused to make the revision, assuring Caterina that he has always taken care of her and will continue to do so, that she will be worse off if she tries to fight him, and other claims that were untrue, including misrepresentations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup>AA756 ln 11 - 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup>RA000489 - RA000498

about his income and assets.<sup>68</sup> The evidence shows that he assured Caterina that he would continue pay her \$3,000 monthly until he died. During their marriage, Grady is the one who made the decisions and controlled the parties' finances<sup>69</sup> Caterina did not have a voice as to the terms of the Decree of Divorce because Grady refused to let her have a voice.

# d. Monthly Mortgage Assistance Provision is Ambiguous and these Payments are Alimony

Grady claims that his payments for Caterina's mortgage assistance were completely voluntary and he does not have to continue to pay. To Grady then agrees that the mortgage assistance provision is ambiguous because the statement he drafted "this is not required" contradicts Grady's obligation to pay Caterina until certain conditions are met i.e. "Grady E. Byrd will continue to pay Caterina A. Byrd 1500 dollars extra a month to assist with her home mortgage. If her financial situation changes or if the home is sold or paid off this payment may cease. This is not an alimony payment and is not required". Clearly, the home mortgage provision cannot be voluntary and continue until certain conditions are met. Judge Kathy Hardcastle determined that since the periodic payments of \$1,500 per month can change if Caterina's financial condition improves or if the house is sold, it is actually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>RA000479 - RA000498

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>AA859 ln 26 - 28

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup>AOB pg 35 ln 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>AOB pg 19, ln 1-3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup>AA002 ln 28 - AA003 ln 2, AA008 ln 3-5

alimony.<sup>73</sup>

In, <u>Lake</u>, this court held that "support" is a word of broad signification. <u>Lake v. Bender</u>, 18 Nev. 361, 4 Pac. 711, 7 Pac. 74 (1884) It includes everything, necessities and luxuries, which the wife in like circumstances is entitled to have and enjoy. Paying the mortgage on a home is a necessity. The court correctly found that Grady's \$1,500.00 per month payments to Caterina for her mortgage is alimony. Grady argues that this payment is actually a property settlement. However, at no point in any of his previous pleadings did he make this argument. Thus, it should not be considered on appeal; "A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." <u>Britz v. Consolidated Casinos Corp.</u>, 87 Nev. 441, 447, 488 P.2d 911 (1971); <u>Harper v. Lichtenberger</u>, 59 Nev. 495, 92 P.2d 719 (1939).

# e. The Amount of Money Caterina Receives for her Interest in the Military Retirement is Ambiguous and Contractually, Caterina is Entitled to Payment

The Decree of Divorce provides that "Caterina A. Byrd is entitled to 50% of Grady E. Byrd's United States Army Retired Pay as long as he lives." The District Court properly determined that this provision is vague and ambiguous since there was no dollar amount provided in the Decree of Divorce and Grady paid Caterina \$1,500 per month for 4 years post divorce. The communications between the parties show that at the time of the divorce, Grady lied to Caterina and told her that he was receiving military retirement pay of \$3,017 per month and that her 50% share is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup>AA859 ln 8-25

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>AOB pg 21 ln 14

\$1,508 per month. In reality, at the time of the divorce, Grady had already waived his military retired pay for largely tax-free disability benefits. Grady falsely claims that the waiver did not occur until late 2014, when in actuality, Grady waived his retired pay in 2011. Around the time of the divorce in 2014, Grady was receiving \$128.40 in military retired pay, not \$3,017. He even started receiving Federal Employees Retirement System disability retirement funds in 2010, which Caterina was never made aware. Grady's current interpretation is that Caterina is only entitled to \$64.20 per month for her interest in his military pay. This is unconscionable and unenforceable. Holyoak v. Holyoak No. 67490, page 6 (Nev., 2016)(appellant's interpretation ultimately lacks merit because it results in a harsh and unreasonable contract).

Consistent with <u>Shelton</u>, Judge K. Hardcastle determined that the best approach for interpreting an ambiguous contract is to delve beyond its express terms and examine the circumstances surrounding the parties' agreement in order to determine the true mutual intentions of the parties. Judge Hardcastle determined that this examination includes, not only the circumstances surrounding the contract's execution, but also subsequent acts and declarations of the parties.

Similar to this Court's decision in <u>Shelton</u>, Judge K. Hardcastle deemed the military retired pay provision ambiguous and, under contract law, Grady ratified the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup>AOB pg 25 ln 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>RA000536 - RA000539, RA000541

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup>RA000539

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup>RA000541, RA000543 - RA000545

terms of the agreement by performing and paying Caterina \$1,500 for four years post divorce. Grady cannot escape his contractual obligation. He possesses ample other assets from which to pay his obligation. Nothing prevents him from using his disability pay to satisfy his contractual obligation. Grady's interpretation of the agreement would lead to a harsh and unreasonable result and would reward Grady for lying to Caterina. Were the provision in the Decree of Divorce interpreted to give Caterina 50% of Grady's Military pay, so that she would receive only \$64.20 per month for her interest in his military pay after 31 years of marriage, this would also be so unconscionable, as to be unenforceable. Judge Hardcastle found that Grady's breach of fiduciary duty, the vagueness of the provision, his unconscionable interpretation, and extraordinary circumstances gives the Court discretion to reopen the division of the marital/community property.

Judge K. Hardcastle's determinations are consistent with Shelton and should be upheld. Shelton v. Shelton, 78 P.3d 507, 510, 119 Nev. 492 (Nev. 2003). In Shelton, supra, the parties' property settlement agreement was deemed ambiguous because the agreement stated that the award of military retirement pay to wife consisted of "[o]ne half of HUSBAND'S military retirement in the amount of \$577, until her demise," but \$577 was more than one-half the amount of husband's retirement pay at the time of divorce. Husband paid wife \$577 for two years after the divorce until he elected to take disability pay in lieu of retirement pay. This Court's findings included:

Moreover, the parties' subsequent conduct reinforces this conclusion, in that Roland ratified the terms of the agreement by performing his obligations under the decree for a period of two years. In addition, this

interpretation yields a fair and reasonable result, as 1 opposed to a harsh and unfair result. Roland cannot escape 2 his contractual obligation by voluntarily choosing to forfeit his retirement pay. It appears that Roland possesses ample other assets from which to pay his obligation without even 3 touching his disability pay. Even if he lacks these assets, nothing prevents him from using his disability payments to 4 satisfy his contractual obligation. Id at 78 P.3d 510 5 (Emphasis Added). 6 This Court also concluded that: 7 "Although states are precluded by federal law from treating 8 9

disability benefits as community property, states are not precluded from applying state contract law, even when disability benefits are involved." Id at 78 P.3d 511

Consistent with the conclusion in Shelton, under contract law principles, Grady is legally obligated to make the \$1,500.00 monthly payments to Caterina and he wrongfully terminated the payments to her on September 1, 2018. Shelton, 119 Nev. 492, 497, 78 P.3d 507, 510 (2003).

Grady claims that pursuant to Howell, the District Court cannot order him to indemnify Caterina for the loss of her interest in Grady's military retired pay because he waived it for largely tax free disability pay. Howell v. Howell, 137 S.Ct. 1400, 197 L.Ed.2d 781 (2017). However, Judge K. Hardcastle did not indemnify Caterina, but enforced the contractual agreement based on Grady's promises and performance. Grady waived his military pay for disability pay in 2011,80 but misled Caterina at the time of divorce in 2014, telling her that her 50% portion was \$1,500 per month. He then paid her \$1,500 per month for four years. Grady's behavior is distinguished from

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>AOB pg 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>RA000536 - RA000538, RA000541

<u>Howell</u> because in <u>Howell</u>, the military member applied for disability benefits thirteen years after the divorce. <u>Howell</u>, 137 S.Ct. At 1404. Further, <u>Howell</u> does not hold that a state court cannot enforce a property division and order a service member to resume payments and pay arrears after he unilaterally stops making payments he is legally obligated to make. <u>Gross v. Wilson</u>, 424 P.3d 399, 401 (Alaska S. Ct. 2018). See also <u>Gemma v. Gemma</u>, 105 Nev. 458, 778 P.2d 429 (1989)(husband cannot dictate when wife will receive her benefits).

3

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

There is nothing in the <u>Howell</u> decision that bars the application of res judicata. In Winters v. Winters, No. 5-16-0217, 2017 WL 3276408 (Ill. App. Ct. July 31, 2017) husband never appealed from earlier rulings dividing his disability compensation and subsequently he agreed to pay his former spouse a portion of his disability compensation. The court ruled that the husband's post-retirement agreement to pay his former wife a share of his military pension, together with the doctrine of res judicata, barred his later claim that he did not have to continue paying her. See also, Bloom v. Bloom No. 1443 WDA 2016, 2017 WL 3225862 (Pa. Super. Ct. July 31, 2017), wherein the parties' settlement agreement, incorporated in a divorce decree, provided that the former wife would receive 50% of the retired former husband's "retirement pay from the U.S. Army for as long as she lives." He subsequently converted his pension to CRSC and his former wife no longer received any portion of the pension. <u>Id</u>. The court reasoned that the election of CRSC in lieu of military retired pay amounted to "a 'unilateral and extrajudicial modification of the decree," depriving [former wife] of the bargained-for benefits included in the divorce decree. On appeal, the court determined that the retiree's post-retirement agreement to pay his

former wife a share of his military pension, together with the doctrine of *res judicata*, barred his later claim that he did not have to pay his former wife the amount previously agreed upon. While Grady elected to waive his retired pay for disability pay prior to divorce, what is similar in <u>Winters</u> and <u>Bloom</u> to the case at bar is that Grady promised Caterina that he would pay her \$1,500 monthly and continued to pay her \$1,500 monthly through the divorce process and for four years after the divorce. During this time, his payment included disability pay, because his retired pay was only \$128.40 monthly.

#### f. Alimony Waiver Properly Deemed Invalid

17 l

In the context of family law, parties are free to contract, and the courts will enforce their contracts if they are not unconscionable, illegal, or in violation of public policy. Rivero v. Rivero, 125 Nev. 410, 429, 216 P.3d 213, 226 (2009). An enforceable contract requires "an offer and acceptance, meeting of the minds, and consideration." May v. Anderson, 121 Nev. 668, 672, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005).

This Court has held that a waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right and in order to be effective, a *waiver must occur with full knowledge of all material facts*. Friendly Irishman v. Ronnow, 74 Nev. 316, 319, 330 P.2d 497, 499 (1958). A party cannot waive something unknown to her because an essential requirement of waiver is: knowledge of the material facts by the party making the waiver. See Thompson v. City of North Las Vegas, 108 Nev. 435, 439, 833 P.2d 1132, 1134 (1992)( A party cannot waive something that is unknown to her). Grady assured Caterina that she would receive \$3,000 per month until he died, but that he could not put alimony language in the Decree of Divorce for a variety of untrue

reasons. Caterina did not have knowledge of all the material facts because of Grady's misrepresentations. Accordingly, she could not knowingly and voluntarily waive alimony.

Disability pension benefits can be considered a source of income for purposes of awarding alimony. Further, the court can invalidate an alimony waiver when wife waived alimony in return for an interest in husband's military pension. <u>Fattore v. Fattore Docket No. A-3727-16T1 Argued January 16, 2019 and February 5, 2019 (N.J. Super. App. Div., 2019)</u>. The court found that "but for" wife's receipt of an interest in her husband's pension, the wife would not have waived alimony. So, too, in this instance, but for Caterina's receipt of \$3,000 per month, she would not have waived alimony.

In <u>Fattore</u>, supra, the court explained:

Here, we hold the alimony waiver was not a bar to a consideration of a post-judgment award of alimony to plaintiff. ..., the record readily demonstrates plaintiff gave valuable consideration for the waiver of alimony in exchange for the promise of the future ability to share in defendant's military pension. Moreover, as defendant notes in his reply brief, his earnings were approximately thirty-four percent greater than plaintiff's at the time of the divorce. Thus, there was valuable consideration given by plaintiff in exchange for the alimony waiver, and the unforeseeable loss of the bargained for pension benefit was a substantial and permanent change in circumstances, which invalidated the waiver. Upholding the alimony waiver in these circumstances would be wholly unfair." (Emphasis Added).

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